BEFORE THE
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION



Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission		:
Bureau of Transportation and Safety			:
							:
	v.						:		C‑2010-2171980
							:
J. Randall & Kevin C. Tharan, t/a			:
Prime Time Limo Service, Inc.			:



INITIAL DECISION 


Before 
Katrina L. Dunderdale
Administrative Law Judge


HISTORY OF THE PROCEEDING


On July 21, 2010, the Bureau of Transportation and Safety (Complainant or BTS) filed a complaint with the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) against J. Randall and Kevin C. Tharan, t/a Prime Time Limo Service, Inc. (Respondent or Prime Time Limo).  The complaint alleges that, on February 23, 2010, Respondent failed to maintain a complete driver qualification file for two drivers in August 2009 and October 2009.  Complainant requested a fine totaling $1,000.00 be imposed upon Respondent for these two violations.  On July 26, 2010, the Commission served a copy of the BTS complaint upon Respondent.

Respondent filed an answer to the complaint on August 11, 2010.  Respondent contends all necessary paperwork and documentation was present in the two drivers’ files on February 23, 2010.   

By notice dated March 20, 2012, the Office of Administrative Law Judge scheduled this matter for an initial hearing on May 3, 2012, at 10:00 a.m.  The presiding officer issued a prehearing order on March 22, 2012, addressing, inter alia, requests for continuance, subpoena procedures, attorney representation and the Commission’s policy encouraging settlements.

On April 30, 2012, BTS filed a request for a continuance due to a settlement in principle between the parties.  On May 2, 2012, the presiding officer issued the First Interim Order granting the continuance request.  

		On May 14, 2012, BTS filed a Settlement Agreement with the Secretary’s Bureau and on May 18, 2012, the presiding officer received the fully executed agreement.  The Settlement Agreement is attached to this Initial Decision as Appendix A.

TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT

		The Settlement is a nine-page document containing, inter alia, Background and Summary of Proceedings; Settlement Terms; and Joint Statement in Compliance with Commission Policy.  The parties stipulated to the following facts in Section I, Nos. 1 through 10.

1. The parties to this Settlement Agreement are the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff, P.O. Box 3265, Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265, and Respondent, Prime Time Limo, who maintains its principle place of business at 53 Tharan Lane, Knox, Pennsylvania 16232.   
 
2. On the date of the violation alleged in this complaint, Respondent held a certificate of public convenience issued by this Commission.  Respondent was issued a Certificate on June 21, 2000, at A-00116475, F.1, for limousine authority.  On June 9, 2006, Respondent was issued a Certificate at A‑00116475, F.2, for G&P 16 to 28 passengers.

3. Pursuant to its enforcement responsibilities, the Bureau of Transportation and Safety (BTS) initiated the above-captioned complaint against Respondent.


4. On February 23, 2010, Altoona District Office Supervisor Kimberly Johnston, a duly authorized officer of this Commission, conducted a compliance review on Respondents.  

5. On March 2, 2010, a close-out interview was conducted on Randall Tharan, President of Respondent.

6. BTS found that Respondent failed to maintain a complete driver qualification file for its driver Randall Tharan, who drove August 22, 2009.  Respondent’s file did not contain an annual review of Randall Tharan’s driving record and annual certificate of violations of motor vehicle laws.  

7. BTS also found that Respondent failed to maintain a complete driver qualification file for its driver James Turk, who drove on October 3, 2009.  Respondent's file did not contain an annual review of James Turk’s driving record and annual certificate of violations of motor vehicle laws. 

8. BTS alleges that Respondent, in performing the acts described in paragraphs 6 and 7, violated the federal regulations regarding driver qualification files, 49 CFR § 391.51(a) (incorporated by reference into the Commission’s regulations at 52. Pa. Code § 37.204(3)).

9. BTS requested that the Commission fine Respondent a total of $1,000.00 as a result of these violations.         

10. On August 11, 2010, Respondent filed a timely answer to the complaint.  In its Answer, Respondent alleged that the annual reviews and records of violations were completed; they were just not on the proper forms.  Respondent also states that it corrected both driver files the day the review was done, February 23, 2010.

The essential terms of the Settlement are contained in Section II, No. 11, Subsections a, b and c:
a. In recognition of the cost of further litigation, the time and expense of holding a hearing, and the merits of the parties’ respective positions, the parties have entered into negotiations and have agreed to settle the complaint according to the terms and conditions set forth herein.

b. Respondent acknowledges that not having complete driver qualification files constitutes a violation of the Code of Federal Regulations at 49 CFR § 391.51(a), incorporated by reference into the Commission’s regulations at 52 Pa. Code § 37.204(3)).   Respondent therefore agrees to pay a civil penalty in the amount of $500.00. 


c. Respondent agrees that it will comply with the Public Utility Code and the Commission’s regulations and orders in the future and take appropriate steps to alleviate future misconduct and/or noncompliance with the Public Utility Code and the Commission’s regulations and orders.

The Joint Statements in Compliance with the Commission’s Policy Statement on Litigated and Settled Proceedings are contained in Section III, Nos. 12 through 29: 

12. The parties acknowledge that approval of this Settlement Agreement is consistent with the Commission’s Policy Statement for Litigated and Settled Proceedings Involving Violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission Regulations (“Policy Statement”), 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201; See also Joseph A. Rosi v. Bell-Atlantic-Pennsylvania, Inc., C-00992409 (March 16, 2000).  

13. Under the Policy Statement, the Commission will consider specific factors when evaluating settlements of alleged violations of the Public Utility Code and the Commission’s Regulations.  These factors are: (i) Whether the conduct at issue was of a serious nature; (ii) Whether the resulting consequences of the conduct at issue were of a serious nature; (iii) Whether the regulated entity made efforts to modify internal policies and procedures to address the conduct at issue and prevent similar conduct in the future; (iv) The number of customers affected and the duration of the violation; (v) The Compliance history of the regulated entity that committed the violation; (vi) Whether the regulated entity cooperated with the Commission’s investigation; (vii) The Amount of the civil penalty or fine necessary to deter future violations; (viii) Past Commission decisions in similar situations; and (ix) other relevant factors.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c).

14.	The Commission will not apply the standards as strictly in settled cases as in litigated cases.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(b).  While many of the same factors and standards may still be considered, in settled cases the parties “will be afforded flexibility in reaching amicable resolutions to complaints and other matters so long as the settlement is in the public interest.”  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(b).

15.	The first factor considered in this case was whether Prime Time Limo’s alleged acts and omissions amounted to willful fraud or misrepresentation, or were merely administrative or technical errors.  The alleged conduct in this case involves failing to maintain a proper driver qualification file.  No evidence indicates that Respondent intended to violate the Commission’s regulations regarding vehicle the [sic] driver qualification file.  In fact, Respondent corrected the violation the same day the Enforcement Officer informed Respondent of it.  52 Pa. Code §29.314(c).  Furthermore, Respondent fully cooperated with this investigation.
16.	The second factor considered in this case was whether the resulting 
	consequences of Prime Time Limo’s alleged actions or omissions were of a serious nature.  In this case, Prime Time Limo’s alleged conduct did not result in any consequences.  There is potential danger when a company does not maintain a proper driver qualification file because annual reviews of driver records may not have taken place.  However, in this case, the reviews were completed; the files were merely not updated to reflect the reviews.  Therefore, no serious consequences occurred in this case.  

17.	The third factor to be considered, whether Prime Time Limo’s
	alleged conduct was intentional or negligent, does not apply to the present case because this proceeding is a settled matter.  To the extent this factor is to be considered, it appears that Prime Time Limo’s conduct was negligent in nature, especially considering that it corrected the violation as soon as Officer Johnston informed Respondent that its files were incomplete.  

18.	With regard to the fourth standard in the Commission’s Policy Statement, whether the entity made efforts to modify internal policies and procedures to address the alleged conduct at issue and to prevent similar conduct in the future, Prime Time Limo corrected the violation the same day it learned of it.  Prime Time Limo has not received any violations related to driver qualification files since this violation in 2010.

19.	The fifth standard in the Policy Statement deals with the number of 
	customers affected and the duration of the violation.  No customers were affected and Respondent corrected the violation the same day it learned of it.  

20.	The Policy Statement’s sixth standard is a consideration of the compliance history of the entity.  Prime Time Limo received a certificate from this Commission in June 2000 and this is its first and only violation of this nature.  Respondent has two other violations at C-2010-2189932 and ?  for x [sic].  Both of these complaints alleged a failure to file a vehicle list.  The complaint at C‑2010-2189932 was marked satisfied and closed in February 2011.  In response to the complaint at C-2011-2271340, which is still pending, Respondent answers that he did file a vehicle list in December 2010.  Respondent’s compliance history compares favorably with the record of other taxi companies in Pennsylvania.  

21.	The seventh standard in the Policy Statement is whether the regulated entity cooperated with the Commission’s investigation.  Prime Time Limo has cooperated throughout all phases of this investigation.

22.	The amount of the civil penalty or fine necessary to deter future violations is the eighth standard in the Policy Statement.  The parties submit that a civil penalty in the amount of Five Hundred Dollars ($500) is sufficient to deter Prime Time Limo from committing any violations in the future, in part because Prime Time Limo is a small company with limited resources and only one vehicle.  For the year 2009, Prime Time Limo reported only $52,000 in gross revenues.  This Settlement Agreement recognizes Prime Time Limo’s good faith efforts to comply with the Commission’s regulations.

23.	The ninth standard examines past Commission decisions in similar 
	situations.  Counsel is not aware of any decisions with this precise fact pattern.  However, when all relevant factors are taken into account, this settlement is consistent with past Commission actions regarding companies of this size with comparable compliance records.  Moreover, since this is a settled matter, it should be considered on its own merits.

24. The parties submit that an additional relevant factor – whether the case was settled or litigated – is of pivotal importance to this Settlement Agreement.  A settlement avoids the necessity for the prosecuting agency to prove elements of each allegation.  In return, the opposing party in a settlement agrees to a lesser fine or penalty.  Both parties negotiate from their initial litigation positions.  The fines and penalties in a litigated proceeding have always been different from those that result from a settlement.

25. This document represents the Settlement Agreement in its entirety.  No changes to obligations set forth herein may be made unless they are in writing and are expressly accepted by the parties involved.  This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted under Pennsylvania law.

26.	None of the provisions of the Settlement Agreement or statements herein shall be considered an admission of any fact or culpability.  Prosecutory Staff acknowledges that this Agreement is entered into with the express purpose of settling the asserted claims regarding the specific alleged violation of the Public Utility Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder against, or prejudice to, any position which any party may adopt during any subsequent proceeding of whatever nature.

27. The parties agree that the underlying allegations were not the subject of any hearing or formal procedure and that there has been no order or findings of fact rendered in this matter.

28.	This Settlement Agreement is conditioned upon the Commission’s approval without modification.  

29.	The parties agree to waive the exception period, thereby allowing this Settlement Agreement to be presented directly to the Commission for review, pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 5.232(e).  The parties reserve the right to withdraw from this Settlement Agreement if it is modified in any manner, or if any adverse response is filed.

DISCUSSION

		The Bureau of Transportation and Safety, as the Complainant in this proceeding, has the burden of proof to show Respondent is responsible or accountable for the problem described in the complaint.  Patterson v. Bell Telephone Co. of Pennsylvania, 72 Pa. PUC 196 (1990), Feinstein v. Philadelphia Suburban Water Co., 50 Pa. PUC 300 (1976).  Complainant must establish its case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa. Public Utility Comm’n, 578 A.2d 600 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1990), alloc. den., 602 A.2d 863 (Pa. 1992).  To meet the burden of proof, Complainant must present evidence more convincing, by even the smallest amount, than that presented by Respondent.  Se-Ling Hosiery v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 45, 70 A.2d 854 (1950).  

		In this case, Complainant contends Respondent violated the Commission’s regulations by failing to maintain complete driver qualification files for two drivers in August 2009 and October 2009.  Respondent contended the information was present at the time of Complainant’s compliance review.

		It is the policy of the Commission to encourage settlements.  See, 52 Pa. Code §5.231(a).  Settlements often eliminate or significantly reduce the time, effort, and expense of litigating a proceeding to its final conclusion, which might include review of the Commission’s decisions by the Pennsylvania appellate courts.  Such savings directly benefit the individual parties to a proceeding, as well as the Commission.  However, these savings are also a benefit to all of the utility’s ratepayers by reducing expenses that could be claimed in future rate cases.

		Originally, BTS sought to impose a $1,000.00 civil penalty against Respondent on the grounds Prime Time Limo violated the Commission’s regulations when Prime Time Limo failed to properly maintain the driver qualification files for two drivers.  Under the terms of the Settlement, Prime Time Limo will pay to Complainant the sum of five hundred dollars ($500.00) and agrees to comply with the Commission’s regulations.  

		The parties believe the Settlement should be approved because it is in the public interest, and is consistent with the factors and standards contained in the Commission’s Policy Statement for Litigated and Settled Proceedings Involving Violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission Regulations, M-00051875, December 22, 2007, 37 Pa. Bulletin Page 6755, and as previously enunciated in Rosi v. Bell Atlantic-Pennsylvania, Inc., Docket No. C‑00992409 (March 16, 2000), and as specified in 52 Pa. Code §69.1201.  Additionally, BTS agrees Respondent’s compliance history should be deemed satisfactory and notes Respondent fully cooperated with BTS staff.  BTS agrees the Settlement Agreement is consistent with prior decisions and is appropriate based upon the circumstances involved in the instant case.  Lastly, Prime Time Limo agrees to pay the civil penalty of $500.00.

		Upon reviewing the terms and conditions of the Settlement, I agree with the parties.  The Settlement submitted in this case represents a fair, just, lawful, and reasonable resolution of this proceeding.  The parties detail in their Settlement Agreement the ten factors considered when evaluating settlements of alleged violation of the Commission’s regulations, pursuant to the Commission’s policy statement and 52 Pa. Code §69.1201.  

		The parties agree there is no evidence Prime Time Limo intentionally violated the regulations; Prime Time Limo corrected the violations the same day; there were no adverse consequences from the alleged violations; there have not been any additional violations noted since 2010; Prime Time Limo’s compliance history is favorable in comparison with other taxi companies; Respondent cooperated with the investigation; the civil penalty is sufficient deterrent in light of Respondent’s 2009 gross revenues totaling only $52,000.00; this settlement is comparable with past Commission actions; and this settlement avoids the necessity of litigation.  







[bookmark: _GoBack]ORDER


		THEREFORE,

		IT IS ORDERED:

		1.	That the Joint Petition for Settlement submitted by the Bureau of Transportation and Safety and J. Randall and Kevin C. Tharan, t/a Prime Time Limo Service, Inc., at Docket No. C-2010-2171980, is approved.

		2.	That J. Randall and Kevin C. Tharan, t/a Prime Time Limo Service, Inc., having agreed to do so, shall pay the sum of five hundred dollars ($500.00) to the Commission, pursuant to Sections 3301 and 3315 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S.A. §3301 and §3315,  by sending a certified check or money order within twenty (20) days after service of the Commission Order to:  

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
P.O. Box 3265
Harrisburg, PA  17105-3265

		3.	That J. Randall and Kevin C. Tharan, t/a Prime Time Limo Service, Inc., shall cease and desist from further violations of the Public Utility Code and the Commission’s regulations.

		4.	That the Commission’s investigation and subsequent formal complaint proceeding at Docket No. C-2010-2171980 shall be terminated and the record and docket marked closed.

	 
Date:  May 21, 2012				________________________
							Katrina L. Dunderdale
							Administrative Law Judge
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